I N THE UNI TED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF NEBRASKA

IN THE MATTER OF

UNI TED | MPORTS CORP. , CASE NO. BK96-81674

N N N N N

DEBTOR CH 11

VEMORANDUM

Hearing was held on April 29, 1997, on a Mdtion for
Cont enpt and an Anended Mdtion for Contenpt filed by debtor.?
Appear - ances: Janes Cavanagh and Sandy Dougherty as attorneys
for the debtor; M ke Washburn as attorney for the Creditors’
Committee; Robert Bothe, Matt McGrory, Judy Archer and Donald
Lefkowi tz as attorneys for Time Warner Cable of New York City;
and Robert G nn as attorney for First USA Merchant Services.
Thi s menorandum cont ai ns findings of fact and concl usi ons of
| aw required by Fed. Bankr. R. 7052 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 52.
This is a core proceeding as defined by 28 U S.C. §
157(b)(2) (A) and (G .

Backgr ound

United Inports Corp., the debtor in this case, filed a
nmotion for contenpt against Time Warner Cable of New York City
(Time Warner). The debtor alleges that Time Warner willfully
violated the automatic stay inposed by 11 U S.C. § 362 by
continuing litigation against the debtor that Time Warner had
instituted pre-petition.

The history of the prior litigation between the parties
and the debtor’s ensuing bankruptcy have been docunented in

two previous nenoranda by this court. See, In re United
| nports Corp., 203 B.R 162 (Bankr. D. Neb. 1996); In re
United Inports Corp., 200 B.R 234 (Bankr. D. Neb. 1996). In

addition, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals has al so
provided a history of the matter. See, Tine Warner Cable of
New York v. MD. Electronics, Inc., 101 F.2d 278 (2d Cir

1Al t hough captioned as a notion for contenpt, the evidence
present ed and argunent concerned a request for sanctions for a
willful violation of the automatic stay under 11 U. S.C. 88§
105(a) and 362(a). This menorandum and order shall deal with
the notions in that manner, and not as a contenpt matter.
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1996). A review of the relevant events is, however, necessary
for a proper understanding of the notion.

Ti me Warner conmmenced an action agai nst the debtor in the
Eastern District of New York on July 10, 1996, all eging
vi ol ati ons of 88 553 and 605 of the Cabl e Conmuni cations
Policy Act of 1984, 47 U.S.C. 88 553 and 605, and seeking
danmages and seeking to enjoin the sale and distribution of
certain electronic equipnent sold by the debtor. The
foll ow ng day, Time Warner obtained a tenporary restraining
order enjoining the debtor fromengaging in certain activities
and freezing certain assets of the debtor.

A hearing on a prelimnary injunction was held on July
25, 1996, and the federal district judge granted Tinme Warner a
prelimnary injunction. The injunction prevented the debtor
fromselling or transporting the electronic equipnment in
guestion, required the debtor to provide Tinme Warner with
certain information regardi ng past sales and financi al
i nformati on about the corporation, and required the debtor to
permt Time Warner to inspect its prem ses.

The debtor filed its petition for relief under Chapter 11
in the Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nebraska on August
1, 1996. By notion filed in this court on August 8, 1996, the
debt or sought an order determ ning that certain aspects of the
prelimnary injunction were stayed by 11 U S.C. § 362. A
hearing on this nmotion was held on August 9, 1996, and both
parties participated in the hearing. The issues were
submtted and the court and the parties contenplated a
relatively quick decision because of the continuing concerns
of Time Warner about the debtor’s activities.

Apparently not wanting to wait for a decision and not
wanting to be outdone by the debtor in the gamesmanship of
forum shopping,? Tine Warner filed a nmotion in the Eastern

2 After Time Warner filed its conplaint in the Eastern

District of New York on July 10, 1996, the debtor filed a

decl aratory judgnent action in this district on July 15, 1996,
raising the sanme issues that were involved in the New York
litigation. After a review of a Report and Recomrendati on by
t hi s bankruptcy judge, the action was eventually di sm ssed by
Judge Shanahan of the District of Nebraska on February 14,
1997.
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District of New York captioned “Order to Show Cause” on August
14, 1996, requesting a ruling on the sane issues that had been
litigated in this court on August 9, 1996. The proposed order
provides in part as foll ows:

ORDERED t hat defendants show cause before this
court . . . why an order should not be entered
(i) determining that the automatic stay created
by defendants M D. Electronics, Inc., United

| mports, Inc. and Everquest, Inc. filing a
chapter 11 petition in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nebraska
does not void or prevent enforcement of the
Prelimnary Injunction, and (ii) directing
conpliance with the Prelimnary Injunction by
def endants and all other parties to whomit is
directed .

The proposed order included nunerous other provisions
which the district judge did not adopt, but which the parties
argued about at the hearing before the New York court.
Acconpanyi ng the proposed order was an affirmation of Dani el
J. Lefkowitz, an attorney representing Tine Warner in its
litigation with the debtor. The affirmation identifies
vari ous docunents that were submtted with the proposed order,
whi ch included pl eadings fromthe debtor’s bankruptcy case,
the New York litigation, and the declaratory judgnment action
filed by the debtor in the District of Nebraska and
correspondence between counsel for the debtor and counsel for
Ti me War ner.

On August 19, 1996, this court issued a nenorandum
opi ni on holding that the discovery obligations inposed on the
debtor by the prelimnary injunction were stayed pursuant to
11 U.S.C. § 362. 200 B.R at 235. This decision was not
appeal ed. Two days later, a hearing on Tinme Warner’s New York
show cause order was held, and on August 22, 1996, the federal
district judge issued an order determ ning that a portion of
the injunction ordering the debtor to performan affirmtive
di scovery obligation was not stayed by the automatic stay.

Time Warner’s failure to appeal this court’s decision and
its intentional pursuit of the district court order thereafter
resulted in the contradictory orders regarding the obligations
of the debtor.
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The debtor appealed the district court orders of July 25
and August 22 to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. Pending
appeal, the Second Circuit stayed the effect of the orders.
The appeal was argued on Novenmber 1, 1996, and the Second
Circuit extended the stay of the orders pending the outcone of
t he appeal. On Novenber 27, 1996, the Second Circuit issued
an opinion wherein it directed Time Warner to apply to this
court for limted relief fromthe stay to seek the discovery
it required, continued the stay on enforcenent of the district
judge’'s orders, and retained jurisdiction of the appeal. 101
F.3d at 282-83. The parties then cooperatively achieved
limted discovery and inspection. The appeal was eventually
di sm ssed as noot on May 5, 1997.

Deci si on

Time Warner’s action in filing its August 14, 1996 notion
and its continued pursuit of an order in its favor after
receiving this court’s decision on the same issue resulted in
a depletion of estate assets to the detrinent of both the
continuing legitimte business operations of debtor-in-
possession and to the ultimate detrinment of all of the
creditors of this estate. Continuing to pursue the matter in
New York, instead of appealing or noving for relief in the
bankruptcy court, constitutes bad faith and a willfu
violation of the automatic stay. Under 11 U.S.C. 8§ 105(a),
this court has the authority to order conpensation to the
estate for the stay violation.

Di scussi on

Section 362(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code provides in
part:

A petition filed under section 301 . . . of this
title . . . operates as a stay, applicable to
all entities, of --

(1) the commencenent or continuation, including
t he i ssuance or enploynment of process, of a
judicial . . . action or proceeding agai nst the
debtor that was or could have been commenced
bef ore the comencenent of the case under this
title, or to recover a claimagainst the debtor
t hat arose before the commencenent of the case
under this title .
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11 U.S.C. 8 362(a)(1). The debtor contends that Tine
Warner’s action in filing its Order to Show Cause on August
14, 1996 in the Eastern District of New York was a
continuation of its suit against the debtor and constitutes a
willful violation of the automatic stay. |In response, Tine
Warner argues that its actions were not in violation of the
stay.

A. Violation of the Automati c Stay

While the filing of a bankruptcy petition operates as a
stay of pending litigation involving the debtor, the court in
which the litigation is pending retains jurisdiction to
determ ne the applicability of the stay to the litigation in
guestion and to its prior orders. Picco v. G obal Mrine
Drilling Co., 900 F.2d 846 (5th Cir. 1990); N.L.R. B. v. Edward

Cooper Painting, Inc., 804 F.2d 934 (6th Cir. 1986); Hunt v.
Bankers Trust Co., 799 F.2d 1060 (5th Cir. 1986); In re

Mahur kar Doubl e Lunen Henodi alysis Catheter Patent Litigation,
140 B.R 969 (N.D. IIl. 1992); Mtther African Union Methodi st
Church v. Conference of AUFCMP Church, 184 B.R 207 (Bankr. D.
Del . 1995).

Si nce a non-bankruptcy court has the right to
consi der whether the automatic stay order
applies to matters before it, it logically
follows that the parties before that court have
the right, indeed perhaps the duty, to express
to that court their views on whether the stay
order applies to such matters. Absent bad faith
conduct, the exercise of that right by the
parti es before the non-bankruptcy court cannot
constitute a violation of the stay order.

Mot her African Union Methodist Church, 184 B.R at 216
(emphasis supplied). Cf. Etti v. Paine Wbber Jackson &
Curtis, Inc. (In re Baldwin v. United Corp. Litigation), 765
F.2d 343 (2d Cir. 1985) (Court criticized litigant who, upon
| earning that the debtor was in the process of having the
bankruptcy court deternmine the effect of the automatic stay on
ongoing litigation, filed its own notion with the
nonbankruptcy forum); Brown v. Republic Gl Corp. (In re
Republic O1 Corp.), 59 B.R 884 (Bankr. WD. Ky. 1986)
(Rermoval of pre-petition litigation to a bankruptcy court

ot her than the one in which the bankruptcy case was pendi ng
found to constitute a violation of the automatic stay).
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In all of the reported decisions cited, except In re
Baldwin United Corp., the question of the applicability of the
automatic stay to the pending litigation was placed before the
non- bankruptcy court before the issue had been presented to
t he bankruptcy court. In this case, however, the debtor filed
a notion with this court requesting such an interpretation,
and a hearing on the notion was held in which Time Wrner
actively participated. It was not until a few days after the
hearing was held, but before a decision was reached, that Tinme
War ner sought its own order concerning the applicability of
the stay to the pending litigation by filing its nmotion in the
Eastern District of New York. Even after this court gave its
answer to the questions, Tinme Warner, w thout appealing,
insisted to the New York court that its discovery and
i nspection orders were not affected by the automatic stay.

G ven that Time Warner not only knew of the debtor’s
notion in this court, but actively participated in the hearing
on the debtor’s notion, Time Warner’s actions in filing and
pursuing its conmpeting notion in the Eastern District of New
York constitute bad faith and thus a willful violation of the
automatic stay. While both the bankruptcy court and a non-
bankruptcy forum possess jurisdiction to determ ne the
applicability of the automatic stay to pending litigation, the
commencenent of a parallel proceeding in one court while
totally disregarding the result of litigation of the sane
nature in the other is exactly what 11 U S.C. § 362(a) (1) was
meant to prohibit.

B. The Renedy

In Sonse v. Reinert & Duree (In re Just Brakes Corporate
Sys., Inc., 108 F.3d 881 (8th Cir. 1997), the Eighth Circuit
Court of Appeals stated that bankruptcy courts have broad
equi tabl e powers to remedy viol ations of the automatic stay
that injure a corporate debtor’s estate, and that “8 362(a),
buttressed by 8 105(a), confers broad equitable power to
remedy adverse effects of automatic stay violations.” 1d. at
885. Accordingly, this court nay award conpensatory damages
to the debtor for Time Warner’s willful violation of the
automatic stay.

The actual damages incurred by the estate as a result of
Time Warner’s violation of the automatic stay include the
attorney fees and expenses involved in preparing for and
participating in the post-petition hearing in the New York
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court; fees and expenses involved in obtaining relief from
this court to appeal to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals;
preparation of briefs, argunment and application for stay of
the district court orders pendi ng appeal; final presentation
of the issues to the Second Circuit. These costs of
litigation caused solely by Time Warner’'s actions are the
actual damages incurred by the estate. The anpunt of danmges
is $108,243.00 in fees and $9,625.00 in expenses which were
awarded to New York counsel for the debtor. Although
addi ti onal danages were incurred in the formof attorney fees
awar ded to Omha counsel for the debtor, such fees are not
sufficiently identified with this issue to enable an
assessnment to be made.

The estate has suffered $117,868. 00 damages as a result
of the violation of the automatic stay.

Judgnment shall be entered in favor of debtor and agai nst
Ti me Warner for such anount.

Separate journal entry to be filed.
DATED: May 23, 1997.
BY THE COURT:

[s/ Tinmothy J. Mahoney
Ti mot hy J. Mahoney

Chi ef Judge
Copi es faxed by the Court to:
ROBERT G NN 348- 1111
JAMES CAVANAGH SANDRA DOUGHERTY 344- 4006
M CHAEL WASHBURN 390- 7137

ROBERT BOTHE, MATT MCGRORY,
JUDY ARCHER and DONALD LEFKOW T#1-0216

Copies mailed by the Court to:
United States Trustee

Movant (*) is responsible for giving notice of this journal entry to all other
parties (that are not listed above) if required by rule or statute.
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Def endant (s)

Before a United States Bankruptcy Judge for the District of
Nebr aska regardi ng Motion for Contenpt and Amended Motion for
Cont enpt .

APPEARANCES

James Cavanagh and Sandy Dougherty, Attorneys for debtor

M ke Washburn, Attorney for Creditors’ Commttee

Robert Bothe, Matt McGrory, Judy Archer and Donald Lefkowtz,
Attorneys for Tinme Warner Cable New York City

Robert G nn, Attorney for First USA Merchant Services

| T 1 S ORDERED:

Time Warner’s actions violated the automati c stay causing
danages to the estate. Judgnment is entered in favor of the
estate and against Tinme Warner Cable of New York City in the
amount of $117,868.00. See nenorandum entered this date.

BY THE COURT:

[s/ Tinmothy J. Mahoney
Ti not hy J. Mahoney

Chi ef Judge
Copi es faxed by the Court to:
ROBERT G NN 348- 1111
JAMES CAVANAGH SANDRA DOUGHERTY 344- 4006
M CHAEL WASHBURN 390- 7137

ROBERT BOTHE, MATT MCGRORY,
JUDY ARCHER and DONALD LEFKOW T#1-0216
Copies mailed by the Court to:
United States Trustee
Movant (*) is responsible for giving notice of this journal entry to all other
parties (that are not listed above) if required by rule or statute.



